A. INTRODUCTION 

Post-conviction DNA testing is vital for 

identifying cases where a person serves time for a 

crime they did not commit, whether that person falsely 

pleaded guilty or was wrongly found guilty after a trial. 

In denying testing to Patrick Cloud, the trial court 

erroneously endorsed the prosecution’s argument his 

guilty plea made DNA testing unavailable. 

Mr. Cloud’s motion complied with the “lenient” 

statutory requirements and showed a favorable DNA 

result would raise a reasonable probability of 

innocence. The Court of Appeals’s contrary conclusion 

contradicts this Court’s precedent, as well as its own. 

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Patrick Cloud asks for review of the 

decision affirming the denial of his motion for post-

conviction DNA testing. 
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C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Cloud seeks review of the unpublished 

decision in State v. Cloud, No. 55709-6-II (Wash. Ct. 

App. May 17, 2022).  

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. RCW 10.73.170 makes testing available to any 

“person convicted of a felony in a Washington state 

court,” whether or not the conviction followed a trial. 

The rights Mr. Cloud waived by pleading guilty do not 

include the right to seek DNA testing after conviction. 

The trial court erred to the extent it denied Mr. Cloud’s 

motion because he pleaded guilty, raising an issue of 

substantial public interest. 

2. The pocketknife used in the crime was not 

tested before. Testing it now would reveal significant 

new information about the user’s identity. Testing 

raises a reasonable probability Mr. Cloud is innocent 
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because a result showing Mr. Cloud’s DNA was absent 

and another person’s was present would tend to rule 

him out. The Court of Appeals’s contrary conclusion 

contradicts its precedent and that of this Court. 

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The prosecution charged Mr. Cloud and his sister, 

Shae Cloud, with first-degree assault and robbery, with 

deadly weapon enhancements on both counts. CP 1–2. 

The prosecution also alleged Mr. Cloud attempted to 

elude a police vehicle. CP 2–3. 

According to the prosecution’s probable cause 

statement, Shacorry Lilly told police he was hanging 

out with Mr. Cloud and Ms. Cloud when someone 

stabbed him from behind. CP 4. The attacker drove 

away in Mr. Lilly’s car. CP 4. Mr. Lilly believed the 

attacker was Mr. Cloud and thought Ms. Cloud may 

have helped him. CP 4. Ms. Cloud admitted she left 
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with Mr. Cloud in Mr. Lilly’s car but asserted Mr. 

Cloud threatened to kill her if she did not. CP 5.  

Mr. Cloud pleaded guilty to first-degree assault 

and attempting to elude. 4/15/16 RP 9.1 In exchange, 

the prosecution dismissed the robbery count and a 

charge in another case. 4/15/16 RP 3–4; CP 11. 

As a factual basis for his plea, Mr. Cloud 

admitted that he 

unlawfully and feloniously, with intent to 

inflict great bodily harm, intentionally 

assaulted Shacorry Lilly with a deadly 

weapon, and in the commission thereof, I 

was armed with a deadly weapon—a pocket 

knife . . . . 

CP 18. He denied his sister had anything to do with the 

attack. CP 18. 

In his guilty plea statement, Mr. Cloud 

acknowledged he would waive his right to a trial and 

                                                
1 “4/15/16 RP” refers to the verbatim report of 

proceedings held on April 15, 2016. 
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other attendant rights. CP 8–9. He also understood he 

would waive his “right to appeal a finding of guilt after 

a trial as well as other pretrial motions such as time 

for trial challenges and suppression issues.” CP 9. He 

did not waive the right to pursue any other form of 

post-conviction relief. CP 8–9. 

At sentencing, Mr. Cloud received a document 

titled “Advice of Right To Appeal.” CP 127. The notice 

made clear the only appellate rights Mr. Cloud waived 

were those listed in his guilty plea statement. CP 127. 

He retained the “right to appeal rulings on other post 

convictions [sic] motions” listed in RAP 2.2. CP 127. 

The trial court accepted Mr. Cloud’s guilty plea. 

4/15/16 RP 9. It sentenced Mr. Cloud to a total term of 

confinement of 195 months. 6/2/16 RP 21. 

Several years later, Mr. Cloud moved the trial 

court for post-conviction DNA testing of the 
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pocketknife under RCW 10.73.170. CP 93. According to 

Mr. Cloud, testing the knife would likely “demonstrate 

his innocence.” CP 93. On the same day, Mr. Cloud 

moved for an order requiring the prosecution to make 

the knife and any prior testing results available to him, 

indicating the prosecution had not done so before his 

conviction. CP 91. 

The prosecution filed an opposition to Mr. Cloud’s 

motion for DNA testing. CP 101. Without citing any 

statutory language, it argued that post-conviction DNA 

testing is categorically unavailable to people who 

pleaded guilty. CP 104–05.  

The trial court denied Mr. Cloud’s motion. CP 

114. It made no findings and gave no reasons. CP 114. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed. The Court held 

Mr. Cloud’s motion did not meet the statute’s 

procedural requirements because it did not explain 
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why DNA testing was “material to the identity of the 

perpetrator,” overlooking the clear implication that any 

DNA on the knife would bear on who used it to attack 

Mr. Lilly. Slip op. at 6–7. The Court also disregarded 

this Court’s precedent holding a DNA test provides 

significant new information if evidence likely bearing 

DNA has not previously been tested. Id. The Court 

resolved the appeal only on this basis and did not reach 

whether testing is available after a guilty plea. Id. at 1. 

F. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW 

RCW 10.73.170 permits a person convicted of a 

felony to apply for post-conviction DNA testing. The 

Legislature enacted the statute “as a way to ensure an 

innocent person is not in jail,” State v. Crumpton, 181 

Wn.2d 252, 258, 332 P.3d 448 (2014), because “the 

State has convicted the wrong person,” State v. Gray, 

151 Wn. App. 762, 774, 215 P.3d 961 (2009).  
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1. The availability of post-conviction DNA testing to 

people who plead guilty is a matter of public 

importance. 

The “argumentation of the parties” defines the 

scope of issues on appeal. Clark Cty. v. W. Wash. 

Growth Mgmt. Hearings Rev. Bd., 177 Wn.2d 136, 144, 

298 P.3d 704 (2013). Though the trial court gave no 

reasons for denying Mr. Cloud’s motion, the 

prosecution devoted most of its brief in that court to 

argue testing under RCW 10.73.170 is limited to people 

convicted after a trial. CP 104–05. To the extent the 

trial court denied Mr. Cloud’s motion on this basis, it 

acted contrary to the statute’s plain text and the plain 

terms of Mr. Cloud’s guilty plea statement. 

a. The statute’s text demonstrates the 
Legislature’s intent to make testing available 
to persons convicted based on a guilty plea. 

Post-conviction DNA testing is available to any 

“person convicted of a felony in a Washington state 
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court who currently is serving a term of 

imprisonment.” RCW 10.73.170(1). The statute does 

not specify that convicted persons who pleaded guilty 

cannot request testing, nor does it limit testing to 

persons convicted following a trial. Id. In fact, the 

statute does not contain the word “trial.”  

“Where the Legislature omits language from a 

statute,” courts do not read the omitted words into the 

law. State v. Moses, 145 Wn.2d 370, 374, 37 P.3d 1216 

(2002). If the Legislature wanted to restrict testing to 

people convicted after a trial, “it knew how to say it.” 

State v. Slattum, 173 Wn. App. 640, 655–56, 295 P.3d 

788 (2013). Even if the statute is ambiguous, the rule 

of lenity requires courts to interpret it “strictly against 

the State.” Id. at 659, 662.  

To the extent the court determined post-

conviction DNA testing is categorically unavailable to 
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convicted persons who pleaded guilty, the court applied 

an incorrect legal standard and abused its discretion. 

Crumpton, 181 Wn.2d at 264. 

b. Mr. Cloud did not waive the statutory right to 
move for post-conviction DNA testing merely 
by pleading guilty. 

Mr. Cloud relinquished a suite of rights by 

pleading guilty, including the right to a trial and 

appeal. CP 8–9, 104–05; State v. Cater, 186 Wn. App. 

384, 392, 345 P.3d 843 (2015). However, Mr. Cloud did 

not waive the right to seek post-conviction DNA testing 

by pleading guilty. CP 9.  

The “Advice of Right To Appeal” Mr. Cloud 

received made doubly clear that he waived only the 

trial and appellate rights listed in his guilty plea 

statement. CP 8–9, 127. The document noted Mr. 

Cloud retained the right to appeal “rulings on other 

post convictions [sic] motions” listed in RAP 2.2. CP 
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127. This right to review includes “[a]ny final order 

made after judgment that affects a substantial right,” 

RAP 2.2(a)(13), such as an order denying a motion for 

DNA testing, State v. Thompson, 155 Wn. App. 294, 

298 & n.2, 229 P.3d 901 (2010), aff’d, 173 Wn.2d 865, 

271 P.3d 204 (2012).2 

Mr. Cloud did not waive the right to move for 

post-conviction DNA testing. His guilty plea does not 

bar a motion under RCW 10.73.170. 

c. Permitting convicted persons who plead guilty 
to move for testing advances the statute’s 
purpose of preventing the imprisonment of 
innocent people. 

“[A]t times, innocent people can and do confess to 

crimes they did not commit.” Thompson, 173 Wn.2d at 

                                                
2 The Court of Appeals correctly held the 

prosecution waived any argument an order denying a 

motion for DNA testing is not appealable as of right. 

Slip op. at 4. A Commissioner ruled the order was 

appealable, and the prosecution did not move to modify 

that ruling. Id.; RAP 17.7(a). 
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872 n.1 (quoting amici brief). Innocent people feel 

compelled to plead guilty for many reasons, such as 

obtaining immediate release or avoiding the risk of a 

harsher sentence should they wrongly be convicted at 

trial. John H. Blume & Rebecca K. Helm, The 

Unexonerated: Factually Innocent Defendants Who 

Plead Guilty, 100 Cornell L. Rev. 157, 173 (2014). 

In dozens of cases, DNA and other evidence 

exonerated innocent people who pleaded guilty. Colin 

Miller, Why States Must Consider Innocence Claims 

After Guilty Pleas, 10 UC Irvine L. Rev. 671, 673 

(2020); The Innocence Project, When the Innocent 

Plead Guilty (2009), https://innocenceproject.org/when-

the-innocent-plead-guilty/. At least one case occurred 

in Washington, where a young man pleaded no contest 

to burglary, and a DNA test under RCW 10.73.170 

later excluded him as the perpetrator. Miller, supra, at 
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687–88 & n.145; The Nat’l Registry of Exonerations, 

Michael Washington (Aug. 8, 2017), https://www.law.

umich.edu/special/exoneration/Pages/casedetail.aspx?

caseid=5185. As Figure 1 shows, in 2016, almost half of 

all exonerations followed guilty pleas. 

 

Figure 1. 74 of 166 exonerations in 2016 followed a 

guilty plea. See The Nat’l Registry of Exonerations, 

Exonerations in 2016 1–2 (Mar. 7, 2017), https://www.

law.umich.edu/special/exoneration/Documents/

Exonerations_in_2016.pdf. 

Making DNA testing available after a guilty plea 

furthers the statute’s purpose of “ensur[ing] an 

Guilty pleas

Other 
exoneratio

ns

Exonerations in 2016



14 
 

innocent person is not in jail.” Crumpton, 181 Wn.2d at 

258; see In re Pers. Restraint of Bradford, 140 Wn. 

App. 124, 131–32, 165 P.3d 31 (2007) (granting a new 

trial, despite a confession, where new DNA evidence 

excluded the petitioner). 

 Due to the many innocent people compelled to 

plead guilty in our criminal legal system, the 

availability of DNA testing after a guilty plea is a 

matter of substantial public importance. RAP 

13.4(b)(4). Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals declined 

to reach this issue. Slip op. at 1. This Court should 

grant review. 

2. The Court of Appeals contravened this Court’s 

precedent when it held Mr. Cloud’s motion for 

post-conviction DNA testing did not fulfill the 

statutory requirements. 

A motion under RCW 10.73.170 must advance 

one or more of three listed reasons why the court 

should permit DNA testing. RCW 10.73.170(2)(a)(i)–
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(iii). DNA evidence must also be “material to the 

identity of the perpetrator.” RCW 10.73.170(b).3 Where 

a movant meets these requirements, the court must 

grant the motion if it finds a reasonable likelihood that 

DNA testing would show the person is innocent. RCW 

10.73.170(3); Gray, 151 Wn. App. at 774. 

a. DNA testing of the pocketknife would reveal 
significant new information about the 
attacker’s identity. 

RCW 10.73.170(2)(a) and (b) impose “lenient” 

procedural requirements that pertain only to “the 

motion’s form and content.” Thompson, 155 Wn. App. 

at 301 (quoting State v. Riofta, 166 Wn.2d 358, 367, 

209 P.3d 467 (2009)); Gray, 151 Wn. App. at 768;. Mr. 

Cloud’s motion meets the requirements if it states that 

                                                
3 A convicted person must also meet any “other 

procedural requirements established by court rule.” 

RCW 10.73.170(2)(c). The prosecution did not argue 

Mr. Cloud did not comply with court rules. CP 101–06. 
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testing “would provide significant new information” 

and be “material” to the perpetrator’s identity. RCW 

10.73.170(2)(a)(iii), (2)(b); Riofta, 166 Wn.2d at 365–66.  

According to this Court’s precedent, DNA testing 

provides significant new information where evidence 

that likely bears traces of DNA was not tested before 

conviction. See Thompson, 173 Wn.2d at 876 (vaginal 

swab from rape victim); see also Gray, 151 Wn. App. at 

770–71 (hairs removed from victims). This is so 

whether or not DNA testing could have been carried 

out before the conviction. Riofta, 166 Wn.2d at 366. 

Because the prosecution never tested any DNA on 

the pocketknife used to stab Mr. Lilly, performing such 

a test would reveal significant new information. 

Thompson, 173 Wn.2d at 876; Riofta, 166 Wn.2d at 

366; Gray, 151 Wn. App. at 770–71.  Mr. Cloud’s 

motion, read together with his concurrent motion for 
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production of the knife, demonstrates the prosecution 

never made the knife available to the defense, 

suggesting the knife was never submitted for DNA 

testing. CP 91, 93. Identifying the DNA on the knife 

may reveal someone else handled it—or confirm Mr. 

Cloud did so.  

For the same reason, identifying the source of any 

DNA on the knife is material to the identity of the 

perpetrator of the assault against Mr. Lilly. RCW 

10.73.170(2)(b). 

The Court of Appeals’s sole reason for affirming 

the trial court’s order was that Mr. Cloud’s motion 

“does not explain, or even mention[,] why DNA 

evidence is material to the identity of the perpetrator.” 

Slip op. at 6. The Court’s reasoning is flawed because, 

as noted, the materiality of the DNA on the knife 

necessarily follows from Mr. Cloud’s request to test it, 
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the statement in his concurrent motion that the knife 

was never made available, and the nature of the crime. 

The Court of Appeals disregards this Court’s 

precedent that testing would reveal “significant new 

information” if an item likely bearing DNA was not 

tested. Thompson, 173 Wn.2d at 876; RAP 13.4(b)(1). It 

also ignores this Court’s precedent that the statute’s 

procedural requirements are “lenient.” Riofta, 166 

Wn.2d at 367; RAP 13.4(b)(1). And the availability of 

DNA testing to people wrongly convicted of crimes is a 

matter of public importance. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This court 

should grant review. 

b. A favorable test of the pocketknife would raise 
a reasonable probability Mr. Cloud is innocent. 

The trial court must grant a motion for DNA 

testing that complies with the procedural requirements 

if “the convicted person has shown the likelihood that 

the DNA evidence would demonstrate innocence on a 
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more probable than not basis.” RCW 10.73.170(3). The 

convicted person need only show a “reasonable 

probability” that someone else committed the crime. 

Gray, 151 Wn. App. at 774 (quoting Riofta, 166 Wn.2d 

at 367–68). 

In determining whether DNA testing would raise 

a reasonable probability a wrongful conviction 

occurred, the trial court must presume the results 

would be favorable to the convicted person. Crumpton, 

181 Wn.2d at 264. The court must then consider the 

presumably favorable DNA test results alongside the 

other evidence presented before the conviction. Gray, 

151 Wn. App. at 774. 

Where the convicted person pleaded guilty, that 

evidence is limited to the facts the trial court could 

consult in finding a factual basis for the plea. See CrR 

4.2(d) (court must find a factual basis); In re Pers. 
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Restraint of Fuamaila, 131 Wn. App. 908, 924, 131 

P.3d 318 (2006) (court must make the materials it 

relies on part of the record). 

Though the Court of Appeals asserted Mr. Cloud’s 

motion did not raise a reasonable likelihood of 

innocence, its opinion contains no reasoning on this 

point. Slip op. at 6–7. In fact, the opposite is true. 

The trial court accepted Mr. Cloud’s plea based 

on his admission he assaulted Mr. Lilly with “a pocket 

knife.” 4/15/16 RP 8–9, CP 18. The statement of 

probable cause was also part of the record. CP 4–5. The 

trial court therefore was required to consider Mr. 

Cloud’s admission and the probable cause statement in 

determining whether the results of DNA testing would 

raise a likelihood Mr. Cloud is innocent. Thompson, 

173 Wn.2d at 873–74. The trial court also was required 

to presume the results would be favorable—i.e., that 
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another person’s DNA was on the knife and Mr. 

Cloud’s was not. Crumpton, 181 Wn.2d at 264. 

Mr. Cloud’s motion establishes a reasonable 

probability of his innocence because only one person 

handled the knife, and a favorable DNA test would 

exclude him as the attacker. See Thompson, 173 Wn.2d 

at 875. There was only one source of evidence to test in 

Thompson: the person who raped the victim. Id. A 

favorable test result would exclude the convicted 

person as the rapist, establishing a likelihood the 

person was innocent. Id.; Gray, 151 Wn. App. at 774. 

As in Thompson, the only potential source of 

DNA to test is the person who used the knife to attack 

Mr. Lilly. Together, Mr. Lilly’s and Ms. Cloud’s 

statements to police establish that only one person 

stabbed Mr. Lilly. CP 4–5. The attacker used a 

pocketknife, a personal item kept in one’s pocket. CP 
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18. It stands to reason that only the person who carried 

the knife and used it to stab Mr. Lilly could have left 

traces of DNA on it. The absence of Mr. Cloud’s DNA 

and the presence of another person’s DNA on the knife 

handle therefore would exclude Mr. Cloud as the 

attacker.4 See Thompson, 173 Wn.2d at 875. 

Though Mr. Cloud’s admission that he stabbed 

Mr. Lilly is powerful evidence of his guilt, it does not 

preclude a finding that a favorable DNA result would 

likely show he is innocent. “Many innocent individuals 

have been exonerated through postconviction DNA 

tests, including some who had overwhelming evidence 

indicating guilt.” Crumpton, 181 Wn.2d at 261–62. 

Indeed, false confessions are among the most common 

                                                
4 The Court of Appeals correctly rejected the 

prosecution’s argument the knife was never recovered 

and is therefore impossible to test. Slip op. at 5 n.4. 

The prosecution presented no evidence of this fact, 

either in the trial court of the Court of Appeals. Id. 
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reasons for wrongful convictions. Brandon L. Garrett, 

Judging Innocence, 108 Colum. L. Rev. 55, 88 (2008); 

see Bradford, 140 Wn. App. at 131–32 (granting a new 

trial based on DNA evidence despite a confession). 

G. CONCLUSION 

This Court should grant Mr. Cloud’s petition for 

review.  

Pursuant to RAP 18.17(c)(10), the undersigned 

certifies this petition for review contains 3,153 words.