# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/18/2022 12:45 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101025-7

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

PATRICK ANTHONY CLOUD,

Appellant.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM

No. 55709-6-II

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 31762 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-6517

# **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. Cloud requests an improper advisory opinion of a nonjusticiable controversy where no court decision turned on or even discussed the question of whether postconviction DNA testing under RCW 10.73.170 is limited to convictions which result from a trial.

Cloud asks this Court to issue an advisory opinion on whether post-DNA testing is available under RCW 10.73.170

where the conviction results from a guilty plea and not a verdict after trial. Pet. at 2, 8-14. However, the Petitioner readily admits: "The Court [of appeals] ... did not reach whether testing is available after a guilty plea." Pet. at 7 (citing Slip Op. at 1); see also Pet. at 14 ("[T]he Court of Appeals declined to reach this issue") (citing Slip. Op. at 1). Because this was no part of the court of appeals' decision, this Court cannot "review" something that is not there. RAP 13.3(a)(1); RAP 13.4(a) (discretionary review is review of the court of appeals' decision). The petition must be denied.

Cloud alleges that the *trial* court reached the issue. Pet. at 1, 8 (claiming "the trial court erred" "to the extent it denied [his] motion because he pleaded guilty"). There are two problems with this claim. First, discretionary review is not of any decision of the *trial* court, but of the decisions of the *court of appeals*. And second, there is no extent to which the question was relevant to the trial court's decision. The superior court did *not* deny the motion for the reason that Cloud had pled guilty. In a form order

transferring CrR 7.8 motions as personal restraint petitions, the superior court indicated that Cloud's various motions, including the motion for DNA testing, appeared to be time barred. CP 112-13. And in a handwritten order, the superior court simply wrote: "It is hereby ordered that the request for testing is denied." CP 114. Because the superior court denied his motion without comment, it is improper to review a reason that is not part of any court's decision. *See* Br. of Resp. at 27 ("This question was no decision of the lower court, and therefore not a question before this Court.").

Before the jurisdiction of a court may be invoked, there must be a justiciable controversy. U.S. Const. art. III, § 2; *Coffman v. Breeze Corp.*, 323 U.S. 316, 324, 65 S. Ct. 298, 89 L. Ed. 264 (1945); *To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001). A justiciable controversy is defined as "(1) ... an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between

parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive." *Id*.

The petition does not discuss these factors. They are not met here. There is no actual dispute where neither the trial court nor the superior court have held Cloud is foreclosed from seeking DNA-testing due to his guilty plea. And Cloud's question is purely academic. This is especially true, because Cloud will not be renewing his claim with an improved motion where *there is no knife to test*. If any of the four justiciability factors are not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals erroneously failed to consider the fact that there is no recovered knife to test. First, it is the defendant's burden to prove that testing would, more likely than not, prove his innocence. Therefore, it is his burden, not the State's, to prove evidence exists which can be tested. There is no record that the knife was ever recovered by law enforcement.

Second, the prosecutor has repeatedly signed under CR 11 that there is no recovered knife. This was repeatedly stated in the State's Memorandum re. Appealability. And in the Brief of Respondent, the Statement of the Case explains that "The prosecutor reviewed the 27 reports in discovery (inclusive of property logs, photographs, and forensic reports available in

met, "the court steps into the prohibited area of advisory opinions." *To-Ro Trade Shows*, 144 Wn.2d at 416. The long-standing rule is that this Court is not authorized to render advisory opinions or pronouncements upon abstract or speculative questions, especially absent a request from the Legislature. *Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 417-18, 879 P.2d 920 (1994).

The Court cannot accept review in the absence of any decision of the court of appeals to review. Review of this issue must be denied.

# B. The court of appeals' decision does not conflict with any opinion of this Court.

Relying upon both *State v. Thompson*, 173 Wn.2d 865, 271 P.3d 204 (2012) and *State v. Riofta*, 166 Wn.2d 358, 209 P.3d 467 (2009), the court of appeals held that "Cloud's motion

LINX) to ascertain that no knife was ever recovered. In drafting the State's Memorandum re. Appealability, the prosecutor also consulted with staff which consulted with law enforcement to

verify that there were no other reports referencing any recovered knife." Cloud does not refute any of this

knife." Cloud does not refute any of this.

fails to meet the burden of either the procedural or substantive requirements" of RCW 10.73.170. Op. at 5-6. Cloud alleges that the opinion is in conflict with the very cases it relies upon. Pet. at 18. There is no conflict.

1. Neither *Riofta* nor *Thompson* support an interpretation that Cloud's motion satisfied the procedural requirements of RCW 10.73.170.

Cloud claims that his motion satisfied RCW 10.73.170 (2)(a)(iii). Pet. at 16. In other words, his claim is that this language:

Comes now the accused, Patrick Anthony Cloud and moves this Honorable Court to order post-conviction DNA testing of the weapon (knife) in the above case based on the likelihood that the results would demonstrate his innocence. RCW 10.73.150 and subsequently order an evidentiary hearing and discovery.

states that DNA testing "would provide significant new information." By no stretch of the imagination is that true.

Much of Cloud's argument is that the trial court was required to scour the trial file on his behalf, to make unjustified presumptions, and to make Cloud's arguments for him. Not only is the court not required to do this, but it is ethically prohibited from doing this. CJC Canon 1.2; CJC Canon 2.2.

There is no reason that the court could or should have presumed from Cloud's motions (1) that the prosecution never tested any DNA on the pocketknife used to stab Mr. Lilly; (2) that the prosecution never made the knife available to the defense; or (3) even that there was a knife to be produced.

Cloud argues that a request for testing in and of itself demonstrates materiality. Pet. at 17-18. Of course, it does not. A request for testing is a request for testing. It demonstrates nothing at all.

Neither *Riofta* nor *Thompson* support Cloud's claim that a court may presume information that the Defendant has not provided, thereby effectively waiving the minimal statutory procedural obligations. The cases only note that subsection (2)(a)(iii) can be satisfied either by stating that *either* DNA testing would be more accurate *or* by stating that DNA testing would provide new information. *Thompson*, 173 Wn.2d at 876-

77; *Riofta*, 166 Wn.2d at 365-66. Cloud stated neither of these things in his motion.

The procedural requisites are few, and Cloud did not make the slightest effort to meet them.

2. No case cited by the petition supports an interpretation that Cloud's motion satisfied the substantive requirements of RCW 10.73.170.

A defendant's motion must "[e]xplain why DNA evidence is material to the identity of the perpetrator of, or accomplice to, the crime, or to sentence enhancement." RCW 10.73.170(2)(b). Cloud's motion makes no effort to comply with this requisite.

The statute permits the trial court to grant the motion "if such motion is in the form required by subsection (2) of this section, and the convicted person has shown the likelihood that the DNA evidence would demonstrate innocence on a more probable than not basis." RCW 10.73.170(3). The motion does not conform to subsection (2) as described *supra*. And it does not show a likelihood that DNA would demonstrate innocence. In fact, it makes no attempt at any demonstration.

Cloud argues that the court was required to consider his guilty plea and the probable cause statement. Pet. at 20. But neither document was attached to his motion. The court was, therefore, not required to consider them. Nor do they assist him.

Cloud argues that because he was convicted by guilty plea and not at trial, DNA testing necessarily raised a likelihood of innocence. Pet. at 20. In other words, he thinks the courts should assume all people who plead guilty have made false confessions. Neither *Thompson* nor *Riofta* support this bizarre reasoning.

Both the State and Cloud advised the court of appeals of the *Crumpton* presumption. Br. of Resp. at 18; Br. of App. at 20. The superior court must presume that a DNA result would indicate someone other than the Defendant. *State v. Crumpton*, 181 Wn.2d 252, 260-63, 332 P.3d 448 (2014). This presumption alone, of course, is not enough to demonstrate innocence on a more probable than not basis.

Both witnesses who identified the Defendant as the assailant knew Cloud well. CP 4-5. Even presuming the knife

only had some other person's DNA, this would not suggest someone else stabbed Mr. Lilly, because the assailant's DNA could have been lost and someone else's DNA could have been transferred. *Touch* DNA can be transferred easily and repeatedly such that finding someone's touch DNA does not suggest the person handled the knife much less stabbed someone with it.

The *Riofta* opinion recognized this in denying the defendant's motion for DNA testing. The presence of someone else's DNA on the white hat which the shooter dropped when he fled would not suggest innocence on a more probable than not basis, because someone else could have used the hat before the shooter. *Riofta*, 166 Wn.2d at 362, 370.

Finding someone else's touch DNA on a knife would be unremarkable because knives are "often used by multiple people and would have multiple sources of DNA." *State v. Allen*, 183 Wn. App. 1046 (2014) (unpublished, cited under GR 14.1 for persuasive value only) (denying motion for DNA testing).

The same is true of the unrecovered knife. Current methods of DNA analysis are so sensitive as to be able to obtain a profile from single cell. Janine Helmus, Thomas Bajanowski, & Micaela Poetsch, <u>DNA transfer – a never ending story.</u> A study on scenarios involving a second person as carrier, Int. J. Legal Med. vol. 130, no. 1: 121-5 (2016). Touch DNA is so easily transferred and re-transferred that its presence on an item is simply not very meaningful. Finding touch DNA may speak more to the donor's status as a high shedder. Fonnelop, et al., The Implications of Shedder Status and Background DNA on Direct and Secondary Transfer in an Attack Scenario, Forensic Science Int'l: Genetics, vol. 29, 48-60 (July 2017).

In a secondary transfer study, pairs of people shook hands for two minutes and then handled separate knives. Cynthia M. Cale, et al, <u>Could Secondary DNA Transfer Falsely Place</u>

<u>Someone at the Scene of a Crime?</u>, J. Forensic Sci, vol. 61, no.

1: 196-203 (January 2016). The DNA of the other person was

transferred to the knife in 85% of cases. In fact, the DNA of this other person who had not handled the knife was falsely identified as the main or only contributor of DNA in 20% of the samples.

In a tertiary transfer study, Person One would rub a cotton cloth on his or her neck. Helmus, *supra*. Person Two would handle the cloth either with or without a glove. Then a different cloth or plastic would be rubbed over Person Two's hand. It was this last item (cloth or plastic) that was tested. In 40% of 180 samples, there was tertiary transfer of Person One's DNA where not only had Person One never touched the item, but Person One had never touched Person Two.

The Helmus study authors conclude, "DNA can be virtually transferred in so many different manners that it may be impossible to determine the way by which it was deposited on a distinct item, even if it is no problem to identify the DNA donor."

Cloud argues that "[i]t stands to reason that only the person who carried the knife and used it stab Mr. Lilly could have left traces of DNA on it." Pet. at 22. That is not reasonable, and

it is not the evidence. The probable cause statement does not say that the assailant made a knife from materials that no one else had ever handled and ever thereafter prevented anyone from handling the knife. It does not say that knife could not have received DNA via a secondary or tertiary transfer from the assailant's hand or another item stored at the bottom of Cloud's backpack go-bag. It does not say that the knife was discovered in a DNA-free location.

Cloud claims that a knife is a highly personal item that no one else would handle. Pet. at 21. This is not reasonable. Pocket knives are highly portable, taken out in public, displayed, passed around, and used and shared all the time such that they could easily carry a number of DNA profiles. This is even more true in consideration of Cloud's transient lifestyle. Cloud did not have a home; he lived out of a go-bag staying at various places. CP 5; Br. of Resp. at 25. People in Cloud's situation often carry knives to defend themselves and also need to share tools. It is

likely, therefore, that his knife was exposed to the transfer of a myriad of DNA and handled by other people.

If the weapon had been recovered after Cloud's flight through the woods, it may have picked up and/or shed DNA from Lilly's car, from the residence where Cloud was visiting with other people, from items in Cloud's bag, and anywhere along his flight through the woods. The assailant's DNA may have been lost and other DNA transferred.

Cloud compares his case with the stranger rape cases of *State v. Thompson*, 173 Wn.2d 865, 271 P.3d 204 (2012) and *State v. Gray*, 151 Wn. App. 762, 215 P.3d 961 (2009)). Pet. at 21. Semen swabbed from a vagina or rectum is in no way comparable with touch DNA on a knife. Anyone may casually handle a knife without the owner's notice so as to leave or remove touch DNA. Semen, however, is not casually deposited in the protected, private areas of the body in a way that would go undetected. Moreover, in those cases, the victims were unable to identify the strangers who assaulted them by name or even

description. *Thompson*, 173 Wn.2d at 867-69; *Gray*, 151 Wn. App. at 765-66. Cloud was identified by his twin. It is absurd to compare Cloud's case with *Thompson* and *Gray*.

No case cited by Cloud conflicts with the court of appeals' commonsense opinion holding that the single-sentence motion did not meet the requisites of the statute.

## V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny discretionary review where Cloud has demonstrated no conflict with any case law and only seeks an improper advisory opinion which cannot affect his case.

///

///

///

///

This document contains 3,429 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.